RECEIVED

Jan 29 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002053

Thorne HealthTech, Inc. and Thorne
Research, Inc.,

Appellants,

v.

Mary Kay Ross,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kevin A. Hall, SC Bar No. 15063
1221 Main Street
Suite 1600
Columbia, SC 29201
Telephone (803) 454-6504
Facsimile (803) 454-6509
Kevin.Hall@wbd-us.com

Ryan D. Ellard, SC Bar No. 103326
5 Exchange Street
P.O. Box 999 (29402)
Charleston, SC 29401
Telephone (843) 722-3400
Facsimile (843) 723-7398
Ryan.Ellard@wbd-us.com
-Attorneys for Appellants-

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT’S FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE IS UNENFORCEABLE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT IT LACKED SPECIFIC PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER DR. ROSS?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE AMENDED COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF *FORUM NON CONVENIENS*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a series of disputes between an employer and its former employee. Appellants Thorne HealthTech, Inc. (“**Thorne HealthTech**”) and Thorne Research, Inc. (“**Thorne Research**”) (collectively, “**Thorne**”)¹ filed their original Summons and Complaint on September 14, 2023, and an Amended Complaint on January 8, 2024. The Amended Complaint included causes of action for breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and declaratory judgement. Broadly, Thorne alleged that its former employee, Respondent Mary Kay Ross (“**Dr. Ross**”), violated her legal and contractual obligations by, *inter alia*, accessing and disseminating confidential and proprietary information. The Amended Complaint also sought a declaration of the parties’ rights and obligations under her employment agreement.

Dr. Ross filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint on February 7, 2024. Dr. Ross argued that Thorne’s action should be dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction and pursuant to the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. Thorne countered that its causes of action relate to Dr. Ross’s South Carolina contacts; that Dr. Ross’s in-state contacts were extensive; and that application of *forum non conveniens* is inappropriate in this case.

¹ Appellant Thorne Research is a wholly owned subsidiary of Thorne HealthTech. Am. Compl., ¶ 1–3, Jan. 8, 2024.

The circuit court held a hearing on May 23, 2024. It entered a July 23, 2024 Order dismissing all causes of action, finding that it lacked personal jurisdiction over Dr. Ross and that *forum non conveniens* favored dismissal. After its Motion for Reconsideration was denied, Thorne filed its Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2024. Thorne respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals reverse the trial court’s order because: **(1)** the unresolved questions surrounding a South Carolina forum selection clause in Dr. Ross’s Employment Agreement preclude dismissal; **(2)** Thorne made a *prima facie* showing that Dr. Ross is subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina; and **(3)** dismissing the case under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* was improper.

FACTS

Thorne is a company focusing on innovative solutions to health and wellness. Am. Compl., ¶ 4, Jan. 8, 2024. Thorne hired Dr. Ross to serve as Chief Medical Officer for Onegevity Health, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Thorne HealthTech. *Id.* at ¶ 6. Two of the key documents related to Dr. Ross’s employment relationship with Thorne are the Offer Letter and the Employment Agreement. *Id.* at ¶¶ 11–12, 15–16. The Offer Letter stated that the complete terms and conditions of Dr. Ross’s employment would be set forth in a subsequent written employment agreement. *Id.* at ¶ 11; Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. A to Ex. 3, pp. 1, 3 (the “**Offer Letter.**”) The Employment Agreement included a South Carolina forum selection clause and provided that the Employment Agreement “will be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of the State of South Carolina.” Am. Compl., ¶ 12; Mem. of Law in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. I, § 8.1 (“**Employment Agreement.**”) The Employment Agreement is signed by Thorne. The parties disagree on whether Dr. Ross signed the document. The parties also disagree on whether Dr. Ross

accepted the Employment Agreement by acquiescence or performance, even if she did not sign the agreement.

Thorne's primary facilities for purposes of medical affairs, sales and marketing, research and development, manufacturing capacity and efficiencies, in-house laboratory and testing, materials management, and shipping are located in Berkeley County at 620 Omni Industrial Boulevard, Summerville, South Carolina. Am. Compl., ¶ 7; Mem. of Law in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. C, Aff. of Holly Walter, SHRM-CP ¶¶ 3-4 ("**Walter Affidavit.**"). The overwhelming majority of Thorne's workforce are in Summerville, South Carolina. Walter Affidavit, ¶ 5-6. Dr. Ross is a Georgia resident. Am. Compl., ¶ 5. Although Dr. Ross had office space in Thorne's New York office, the Amended Complaint alleges that she routinely conducted business in South Carolina, entered into contracts to be performed in the State, and was involved in the production, manufacture, or distribution of goods with the reasonable expectation that those goods were to be used or consumed in South Carolina. *Id.* at ¶¶ 8-10; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803. The Amended Complaint also alleges that Dr. Ross routinely collaborated with Thorne's South Carolina-based Medical Affairs Department staff, Sales and Marketing Department staff, and Research and Development Department staff. Am. Compl., ¶ 9; S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803. Thorne submitted a multitude of affidavits showing her extensive contacts with Thorne's South Carolina professionals. Mem. of Law in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, Ex. C-H. Finally, the Amended Complaint alleges that Thorne suffered damages as a result of Dr. Ross's actions. Am. Compl., ¶ 19; S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803.

Dr. Ross's employment term was three years. Employment Agreement, 2-3; Offer Letter, 1-2. When her employment started on or about August 2, 2021, she began to reap certain benefits including a \$400,000 salary; access to a 401(k) plan; access to medical, dental, and vision plans;

and conditional rights to the company's restricted stock units. Am. Compl., ¶ 15; Employment Agreement, 3. Dr. Ross's employment with Thorne ended on or about July 18, 2023. Am. Compl., ¶ 20.

Following termination of Dr. Ross's employment, the parties took varying interpretations as to what written agreements control the parties' respective rights and obligations. *Id.* at ¶ 40. Thorne filed its original Summons and Complaint requesting a declaratory judgment to that effect. *See generally* Compl., Sept. 13, 2023. Thorne filed an Amended Complaint as a matter of course on January 8, 2024. Rule 15(a), SCRPC. The Amended Complaint consisted of four causes of action: **(1)** breach of contract; **(2)** breach of fiduciary duties; **(3)** violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act; and **(4)** declaratory judgment. Am. Compl., ¶¶ 21–41. In its declaratory judgment action, Thorne sought a judicial decree defining the parties' rights, duties, status, and legal relationship pursuant to the Offer Letter, Employment Agreement, and any other relevant documents. *Id.* at ¶¶ 38–41. Although varying in their scope, the causes of action sounding in breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act generally focused on Dr. Ross improperly accessing and disseminating confidential and proprietary information regarding Thorne's business dealings. *Id.* at ¶¶ 21–37; S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10 *et seq.* Thorne alleges that Dr. Ross misused her position with Thorne for her own personal benefit or the benefit of others. *Id.*

Dr. Ross moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint on February 7, 2024. Mot. to Dismiss, Feb. 7, 2024. In her Memorandum of Law, she argued that the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction. Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, 10–20, May 22, 2024. Specifically, Dr. Ross insisted that she was a New York-based employee and that her contacts with South Carolina were nominal. *Id.* Dr. Ross also urged the trial court to dismiss Thorne's action based on the

doctrine of *forum non-conveniens*. *Id.* at 20–21. In support of her argument, Dr. Ross cited a complaint she filed in New York² against Onegevity, Thorne HealthTech, Inc., and Paul Jacobson (Thorne’s CEO). *Ross v. Onegevity*, Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, Index No. 655082/2023, Complaint, Oct. 16, 2023 (the “**New York Complaint**”).³ Despite the fact that Dr. Ross resides in Georgia, she argued that it would be more convenient for the parties to litigate in New York than in South Carolina. Mem. of Law in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss, 20–21, May 22, 2024. Thorne filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, May 21, 2024.

The trial court held a hearing on May 23, 2024. Tr. of Mot. to Dismiss Hearing, May 23, 2024⁴. The parties filed supplemental briefs on May 28, 2024 and June 3, 2024. Supp. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss, May 28, 2024; Response to Supp. Mem., June 3, 2024. The court entered

² The New York Complaint was filed *after* Thorne’s South Carolina Complaint was filed. South Carolina Complaint, Sept. 14, 2023; New York Complaint, Oct. 16, 2023. The New York Complaint was also served after Thorne’s South Carolina Complaint was served. South Carolina Aff. of Service, Nov. 7, 2023; New York Aff. of Service, Nov. 13, 2023. Thorne moved to dismiss the New York lawsuit based on the first-filed rule, as well as a variety of other deficiencies in the pleadings. Thorne’s Motion to Dismiss the New York lawsuit is currently pending.

³ There was also an action between the parties pending in the Delaware Chancery Court regarding a dispute over Dr. Ross’s alleged entitlement to Restricted Stock Units (“**RSUs**”). *Thorne HealthTech, Inc. v. Ross*, Chancery Court, State of Delaware, Case No. 2023-0935-NAC. The RSU Plan’s forum selection clause required that any disputes arising under the Plan be litigated in Delaware. Dr. Ross did not contest personal jurisdiction in that case. She did, however, file a Motion to Dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The Chancery Court entered an order denying Dr. Ross’s Motion. The parties ultimately agreed on a Stipulation that ended the case and granted Thorne the core relief it requested in its Verified Complaint.

⁴ The Motion to Dismiss for this case, as well as a similar motion to dismiss in *Thorne HealthTech, Inc., and Thorne Research, Inc. v. Stephen H. Ross*, Case No. 2024-CP-08-00077, Court of Common Pleas, Berkeley County (Appellate Case No. 2024-002067) were heard together. Thus, the two hearings share the same transcript. Although there is some degree of overlap, the oral argument for this case can be found at pages 4 through 51 of the transcript and oral argument associated with the *Stephen H. Ross* case can be found at pages 51 through 60.

an Order on July 23, 2024 granting Dr. Ross’s Motion to Dismiss. Order Granting Mot. to Dismiss, July 23, 2024 (the “**Order**”). The court held that it lacks specific jurisdiction over Dr. Ross⁵ and that Thorne’s action should be dismissed under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. Order, 5–12. After its Motion for Reconsideration was denied, Thorne filed a Notice of Appeal on December 4, 2024. Order Denying Mot. for Reconsideration, Nov. 6, 2024; Notice of Appeal, Dec. 4, 2024. No discovery has been taken in this case.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE UNRESOLVED QUESTIONS OF FACT AND IMPROPER CONCLUSIONS OF LAW SURROUNDING THE SOUTH CAROLINA FORUM SELECTION CLAUSE PRECLUDE DISMISSAL.

The parties dispute whether Dr. Ross signed an Employment Agreement that includes a South Carolina forum selection clause. The parties also disagree on whether Dr. Ross accepted the Employment Agreement (and in turn the forum selection clause) by acquiescence or performance. The trial court improperly decided these questions in favor of Dr. Ross and granted her Motion to Dismiss. Issues of fact should be resolved in favor of the non-moving party at the Rule 12 stage. The trial court’s Order should be reversed.

A. Standard of Review

Thorne respectfully submits that given the unique circumstances presented, the Court should undertake a *de novo* review of the trial court’s holding that the forum selection clause is inapplicable.⁶ The trial court’s Order provides no meaningful analysis of the contract issues

⁵ The court also held that it lacked general jurisdiction over Dr. Ross. Thorne does not appeal the trial court’s holding with respect to general jurisdiction.

⁶ While acknowledging that it has no precedential value, Thorne respectfully requests that the Court consider its recent *per curium* opinion where it noted the lack of clarity in our law with respect to forum selection clauses, including the appropriate standard of review. *B & B Crane Serv., LLC v. Iron Planet, Inc.*, No. 2021-001399, 2023 WL 8621090, at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 13, 2023) (*per curium*) (unpublished).

involved in this case. With regard to the key factual issue – whether Dr. Ross signed the Employment Agreement or accepted its terms by acquiescence or performance – the Order includes a fleeting statement to the effect that the court believes the Employment Agreement was unsigned and is therefore invalid. The Order provides no assessment of Thorne’s acquiescence or performance arguments. The trial court committed separate and distinct errors in its factual determinations, application of legal standards, and legal conclusions.

South Carolina’s pleading rules provide that a “*prima facie* showing of personal jurisdiction at the pre-trial stage is all that is required to continue the civil action. To do otherwise would require a much greater degree of specificity in the pleadings than is currently mandated by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure . . . It would be inconsistent with this Court’s decisions dealing with other pre-trial dismissal motions if a special niche were maintained for personal jurisdiction.” *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780–81 (1993). The Court must take the plaintiff’s allegations as true and resolve all factual disputes in its favor. *Brown v. Invest. Mgmt. & Res., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 395, 399, 475 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1996); *M.B. Kahn Const. Co. v. Three Rivers Bank & Tr. Co.*, 354 S.C. 412, 415, 581 S.E.2d 481, 482 (2003); *Mid-State Distributors, Inc.*, 310 S.C. at 335, 426 S.E.2d at 780–81.

As outlined below, the circuit court departed from Rule 12 standards and completely disregarded the facts alleged by Thorne in the operative complaint. The circuit court also erred in its legal conclusion that the Employment Agreement was invalid. Finally, by omission, the trial court committed errors of fact and law by failing to give due consideration to Thorne’s fact-specific acquiescence and performance arguments, while simultaneously rejecting both. The trial court’s holding on this issue is more akin to a post-discovery, summary judgment disposition than a Rule 12 order. “Summary judgment is not appropriate when further inquiry into the facts is desirable

to clarify the application of law.” *Coker v. Cummings*, 381 S.C. 45, 51, 671 S.E.2d 383, 386–87 (Ct. App. 2008). In sum, *de novo* review is warranted.

B. Legal Standards

Performance or acquiescence generally constitutes acceptance under South Carolina law. “The necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and valuable consideration.” *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 425, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct. App. 2009). A written contract is valid if one party signs it and the other acquiesces. *Bishop Realty & Rentals, Inc. v. Perk, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 182, 185, 355 S.E.2d 298, 300 (Ct. App. 1987).

The Supreme Court has held that, “It is not always necessary, in order to give validity to a contract, that it should be signed by both parties; it may be sufficient if it be signed by one party and accepted, held, and acted upon by the other.” *Peddler, Inc. v. Rikard*, 266 S.C. 28, 32, 221 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1975). “Acceptance of a contract by assenting to its terms, holding it and acting upon it, may be equivalent to a formal execution by one who did not sign it.” *Dan Ryan Builders W. Virginia, LLC v. Main St. Am. Assurance Co.*, 452 F. Supp. 3d 338, 349 (D.S.C. 2020). Stated differently, “It has long been a paradigm of South Carolina law that when a contract signed by one party only is accepted by the other party, it becomes binding upon both just as if it were signed by both.” *Jaffe v. Gibbons*, 290 S.C. 468, 473, 351 S.E.2d 343, 346 (Ct. App. 1986).

C. The Court May Exercise Personal Jurisdiction Over Dr. Ross Based on a Forum Selection Clause in her Employment Agreement.

The Employment Agreement between the parties in this case includes the following forum selection and choice of law provision:

This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of South Carolina. **Ross agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of a South Carolina court for the purpose of enforcing or interpreting a term or condition of this Agreement.** An order, judgment, or decree of a South Carolina court may be transferred without Ross’s objection to another jurisdiction to enforce its compliance.

Employment Agreement, § 8.1 (emphasis added); *see also* Am. Compl., ¶ 12 (alleging that, “The Employment Agreement also provides that Ross agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of South Carolina for the purpose of enforcing or interpreting a term or condition of the agreement.”)

While Dr. Ross does not dispute that Thorne signed the Employment Agreement, she claims that she did not. Thorne disagrees but, without discovery, has been unable to test Dr. Ross’s claim. In short, there is a factual dispute concerning execution of the Employment Agreement. The trial court disregarded Thorne’s position and decided in a single sentence that, “[T]he Employment Agreement, despite possessing a forum selection clause potentially linking Defendant to South Carolina, remained unsigned by Defendant, thereby invalidating its contribution to establishing personal jurisdiction.” Order, 8. Issues of fact at the Rule 12 stage are to be resolved in favor of the non-moving party. *Brown v. Invest. Mgmt. & Res., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 395, 399, 475 S.E.2d 754, 756 (1996). Therefore, as a threshold matter, the trial court erred in summarily deciding that Dr. Ross did not sign the Employment Agreement.

D. The Court May Exercise Personal Jurisdiction Over Dr. Ross Based on Her Acquiescence to and Performance Under the Employment Agreement.

Even if discovery were to establish that Dr. Ross did not sign the Employment Agreement, the agreement nevertheless is enforceable based on principles of contract law, namely acquiescence and performance. Dr. Ross was employed with Thorne for approximately two years. During that time, she accepted a variety of benefits pursuant to the Employment Agreement. She was paid a significant annual salary of \$400,000.00. She received bonuses. She was granted conditional rights to restricted stock units. She received other benefits such as the right to participate in a 401(k) plan, medical plan, dental plan, vision plan, and paid leave. To take the position now that she was entitled to reap all the benefits of the Employment Agreement but need

not honor its forum selection clause is an incredibly one-sided approach that undermines well established principles of contract law. Even if she did not sign the Employment Agreement, Dr. Ross acquiesced to its terms in exchange for her compensation and benefits. She also acted on the contract. She was employed for two years, a substantial portion of the agreed upon three-year term. Accordingly, the applicable provisions of the Employment Agreement should be enforced as written.

Thorne presented these arguments to the trial court. But rather than adhering to our Rule 12 standards and resolving the applicable questions in Thorne's favor, the trial court dismissed the Amended Complaint in its entirety. This portion of the trial court's Order included no citations to authority, no meaningful discussion or reasoning, and – with respect to the acquiescence and performance issues – no acknowledgment of Thorne's arguments whatsoever. The trial court's Order should be reversed on these grounds.

The trial court concluded that the Employment Agreement was “unsigned,” despite allegations to the contrary by Thorne. The court also posited that the forum selection clause was unenforceable without even considering Thorne's acquiescence or performance arguments. The case was dismissed at the Rule 12 stage, and the law is clear – Thorne must only make a *prima facie* showing of personal jurisdiction. The trial court failed to resolve issues of fact in Thorne's favor for the purposes of the Rule 12 motion. Thorne respectfully requests that the Court of Appeals reverse accordingly.

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