RECEIVED

May 01 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2023-CP-08-02553
Appellate Case No. 2024-002053

Thorne Healthtech, Inc. and Thorne Research, Inc., Appellants,

v.

Mary Kay Ross, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HAYNSWORTH SINKLER BOYD, P.A.

Stafford J. McQuillin III (SC Bar #78203)

J. Boone Aiken, IV (SC Bar #105243)

P.O. Box 340

Charleston, SC 29402

843.722.3366

mmcquillin@hsblawfirm.com

baiken@hsblawfirm.com

Sarah P. Spruill (SC Bar #68337)

P.O. Box 2048

Greenville, SC 29602

864.240.3200

sspruill@hsblawfirm.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court was within its discretion in dismissing this action based on the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*.

A. Thorne’s argument on appeal was not raised to the circuit court and is not preserved for this Court’s review.

On appeal, Thorne has raised a new argument, claiming that the circuit court misapplied the factors set forth in *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 333 S.C. 201, 206, 508 S.E.2d 46, 49 (Ct. App. 1998). (App. Br. at Argument III). A review of the record shows no treatment of *forum non conveniens* in Thorne’s memorandum in opposition to the motion to dismiss and no mention of the doctrine by Thorne’s counsel at the hearing. (Motion, Transcript, R. at ____). Thorne’s motion for reconsideration does not cite *Macaulay*, does not list any factors, and does not charge that the dismissal on this ground suffered from any error of law. (Motion, R. at ____). Instead, Thorne asked the circuit court to reconsider “the relevance of physical distance, especially

⁴ Thorne did not serve the motion on the circuit court within ten days as required by Rule 59(g), SCRPC.

where Thorne—the only party who still has any presence in New York—is ready and willing to litigate in South Carolina.” As such, the argument presented on appeal is not preserved for this Court’s review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 734 (1998) (holding that an argument must have been raised to and ruled on by the circuit court to be preserved for appellate review). The Court may affirm the order of dismissal on this basis alone. *Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (providing that an appellate court need not address remaining issues when resolution of a prior issue is dispositive).

B. Standard of Review

In 1979, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*. *Braten Apparel Corp. v. Bankers Trust Company*, 273 S.C. 663, 259 S.E.2d 110 (1979). “The decision to invoke the doctrine of *forum non conveniens* is within the discretion of the trial court.” *Fed. Land Bank of Columbia v. Davant*, 292 S.C. 172, 179, 355 S.E.2d 293, 297 (Ct. App. 1987). Generally, “[a]n abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” *Nelson v. Harris*, 441 S.C. 379, 386, 893 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2023). Although Thorne’s brief correctly recites this standard, its brief appears to urge a *de novo* or preponderance of the evidence standard. As argued below, the circuit court’s ruling was an appropriate exercise of discretion and was supported by the law and the evidence.

C. The circuit court’s determination that “the convenience of the parties and the interests of justice are better served by dismissing this action in favor of a New York forum” is consistent with South Carolina law and the evidence in the record.

Under the doctrine of *forum non conveniens*, “a court with proper jurisdiction [may] dismiss an action when the convenience of the parties and the ends of justice would be better served if the action were tried elsewhere.” *Fed. Land Bank of Columbia*, 292 S.C. at 179, 355 S.E.2d at 297. “The doctrine is generally invoked whenever the forum has little or no relationship

to a cause of action. A court should not dismiss an action under the doctrine unless the balance of factors strongly favors the defendant.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

The circuit court presented the following analysis of the issue:

Here, the Court finds that South Carolina has little to no relationship to Plaintiffs’ causes of action. Specifically, Defendant’s employment and relevant interactions occurred in New York, where both Thorne HealthTech’s headquarters and the primary parties involved are based.⁵ Plaintiffs’ causes of action are grounded in actions that took place in New York.⁶ Defendant’s direct supervisors, the key witnesses, and the pertinent documents are all located in New York, further emphasizing New York’s central role in this dispute.⁷ The Court finds that granting a dismissal would not prejudice Plaintiffs. Rather, it would require them to initiate their action in New York—the state where a pending action involving Defendant’s employment has already been filed⁸; where nearly every witness resides⁹; where Plaintiffs’ law firm has an office and is involved in an action with Defendant; where Defendant and her husband, Mr. Stephen Ross, lived and were employed during their tenure with Plaintiffs¹⁰; and where convening this action would substantially benefit all parties involved due to convenience and proximity. As such, the convenience of the parties and the interests of justice are better served by dismissing this action in favor of a New York forum.

(Order, R. at ____) (footnotes added to provide examples of support in Record on Appeal).

On appeal, Thorne argues that the circuit court misapplied the factors set forth in *Macaulay v. Wachovia Bank of S.C., N.A.*, 333 S.C. 201, 206, 508 S.E.2d 46, 49 (Ct. App. 1998). (App. Br. at Argument III). Those factors are:

(1) the relative ease of access to the sources of proof; (2) witness availability and costs of obtaining witness’ attendance; (3) the possibility of viewing premises, if applicable to the action;¹¹ (4) ease, time efficiency and expense incurred trying the

⁵ (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 15-17, Amended Complaint ¶¶ 1-3, 20, R. at ____).

⁶ (Ross Aff. ¶ 21; Bauer Aff. ¶ 3, R. at ____).

⁷ (Ross Aff. ¶ 14; Bauer Aff. ¶¶ 2-3, R. at ____)

⁸ (Complaint in New York Action, R. at ____).

⁹ (See Ross Aff. ¶ 14; see also Bauer Aff. ¶¶ 2-3, R. at ____)

¹⁰ (Ross Aff. ¶¶ 13,16, R. at ____).

¹¹ The parties agree that this factor is not applicable. Similarly, it appears from Thorne’s argument that enforceability of a judgment does not work in favor of New York or South Carolina. (App. Br. at Argument III). Nor are there any particular administrative or conflict of laws issues that would favor one jurisdiction over another.

case; (5) enforceability of a judgment, if one is obtained; (6) administrative difficulties for South Carolina courts; (6) local interests in the trial; and (7) difficulties for South Carolina courts arising from conflict of laws and interpretation of foreign law.

(footnote added).

Thorne has submitted its preferred treatment of the factors, but it has not shown any abuse of discretion. With respect to the unsigned Employment Agreement and its jurisdiction clause found in section 8.1, that issue is treated in the discussion of personal jurisdiction below. It is noteworthy, however, that there is not a forum selection clause in the Employment Agreement. (Employment Agreement ¶¶ 8.1, 6.1(d), R. at ____). Nothing about section 8.1 requires that litigation take place in South Carolina. (*Id.*).

As far as the ease of access to sources of proof and witness availability and the cost of obtaining attendance and local interests in the trial, the record is clear that Dr. Ross was physically located in New York as were her supervisors during her employment. (Ross Aff. ¶ 13-18, R. at ____). There is also no dispute that the Parent Corporation is a Delaware Corporation and its corporate offices are located in New York. (*See* Amended Complaint ¶ 1, Offer Letter, R. at ____). Nor is there any dispute that Dr. Ross does not reside in South Carolina. (Amended Complaint ¶ 5, R. at ____). These facts all support the connection to New York and New York's interest in to adjudication of these claims. As such, there is evidence supporting the circuit court's findings that the parties' disputes should be resolved in New York.

With respect to the ease, time, efficiency and expense incurred trying the case, there is an action pending in New York raising issues surrounding Dr. Ross's employment. Based on the very vague allegations contained in the amended complaint and the arguments in Thorne's brief that this case stems from Dr. Ross's employment, there does not appear to be any reason why

Thorne's claims should not proceed in New York. The fact that Thorne Research, Inc. is predominantly located in South Carolina does not mean that the circuit court abused its discretion.

Having considered the record and the arguments before it, the circuit court's analysis is supported by the record and constitutes a valid exercise of its discretion. Accordingly, this Court must affirm the circuit court's dismissal of this action based on its finding that "the convenience of the parties and the interests of justice are better served by dismissing this action in favor of a New York forum."

II. The circuit court correctly found that Dr. Ross is not subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina for purposes of this action.

A. Standard of Review

"The question of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is one which must be resolved upon the facts of each particular case. *State v. NV Sumatra Tobacco Trading, Co.*, 379 S.C. 81, 88, 666 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2008). "The decision of the trial court will be affirmed unless unsupported by the evidence or influenced by an error of law." *Id.*; see *Cockrell v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co.*, 363 S.C. 485, 491, 611 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2005); *Coggeshall v. Reprod. Endocrine Assocs. of Charlotte*, 376 S.C. 12, 16, 655 S.E.2d 476, 478 (2007); *Cribb v. Spatholt*, 382 S.C. 475, 481, 676 S.E.2d 706, 709 (Ct. App. 2009). "When a motion to dismiss attacks the allegations of the complaint on the issue of jurisdiction, the court is not confined to the allegations of the complaint but may resort to affidavits or other evidence to determine jurisdiction." *Coggeshall*, 376 S.C. at 16, 655 S.E.2d 476; *Cribb*, 382 S.C. at 481, 676 S.E.2d at 709.¹² Accordingly, modern

¹² To the extent Thorne has cited earlier cases that purport to apply a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC standard, those cases have been supplanted by the more recent precedent cited here. With respect to the quoted discussion from *Mid-State Distributors, Inc. v. Century Importers, Inc.*, 310 S.C. 330, 335, 426 S.E.2d 777, 780-81 (1993), a review of the full quote in context shows that the analysis there pertained not to the standard of review for decisions on personal jurisdiction, but

South Carolina case law shows that circuit courts are required to carefully consider the facts and record before them in making decisions on issues of personal jurisdiction and those decisions will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. In other words, circuit courts are not required to find jurisdiction because a plaintiff has made vague jurisdictional allegations in its complaint.

In addition to this authority providing that the circuit court is not confined to the allegations of the complaint in considering a motion to dismiss on personal jurisdiction grounds, courts may take notice of items referenced in the complaint in deciding whether a plaintiff has stated a claim. *See Hall v. Virginia*, 385 F.3d 421, 424 n. 3 (4th Cir. 2004); *Am. Chiropractic v. Trigon Healthcare*, 367 F.3d 212, 234 (4th Cir. 2004) (providing the Court may take judicial notice of documents which are “integral to and explicitly relied on in the complaint” and authentic to determine whether Plaintiff has stated a claim); *Loftus v. F.D.I.C.*, 989 F. Supp. 2d 483, 488 (D.S.C. 2013) (“In addition to accepting the truth of all factual allegations, a court also must consider the complaint in its entirety, as well as other sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 12(b)(6) motions to dismiss, in particular, documents incorporated into the

rather whether orders denying motions to dismiss on personal jurisdiction grounds are immediately appealable. As stated there,

The prima facie showing of personal jurisdiction at the pre-trial stage is all that is required to continue the civil action. To do otherwise would require a much greater degree of specificity in the pleadings than is currently mandated by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Further, after a prima facie showing, the appeal of the personal jurisdiction issue prior to a full development of the facts serves no useful function. There is no finality in a denial of the motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. Just as with a denial of a 12(b)(6), the prima facie showing will succeed or fail at trial. It would be inconsistent with this Court's decisions dealing with other pre-trial dismissal motions if a special niche were maintained for personal jurisdiction.

Id.

complaint by reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice.” (quotation omitted)); *Pension Ben. Guar. Corp. v. White Consol. Indus., Inc.*, 998 F.2d 1192, 1196 (3d Cir. 1993) (“a court may consider an undisputedly authentic document that a defendant attaches as an exhibit to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiff’s claims are based on the document. . . . Otherwise, a plaintiff with a legally deficient claim could survive a motion to dismiss simply by failing to attach a dispositive document on which it relied.”) Here, this would include consideration of the offer letter and the unsigned Employment Agreement.

B. Dr. Ross did not enter an enforceable agreement containing a jurisdiction clause.¹³

As repeatedly mentioned in Thorne’s brief, Dr. Ross’s contractual employment term was to be three years. (App. Br. at Facts, Arguments I(D), II(C), II(D)). This duration of employment is confirmed in the offer letter. (Offer Letter, R. at ____).

The amended complaint does not allege the Employment Agreement was signed by Dr. Ross. (Amended Complaint, R. at ____). Nor has any version of the document signed by Dr. Ross been produced, although both parties have attached the unsigned version to their filings. (Employment Agreement, R. at ____). Dr. Ross has sworn she did not sign it. (Ross Aff. ¶ 11, R. at ____). Quite simply, there is no basis for the Appellant’s arguments that the circuit court erred in finding that the Employment Agreement was unsigned.

Moreover, given the time required for performance (three years), any action based on the Employment Agreement as filed in South Carolina, is subject to the statute of frauds. S.C. Code Ann. § 32-3-10 (“No action shall be brought whereby: . . . (5) To charge any person upon any

¹³ Thorne incorrectly characterizes section 8.1 of the Employment Agreement as a forum selection clause. It makes no reference to where any dispute must be resolved. Instead, it provides “Ross agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of a South Carolina court”

agreement that it not to be performed within the space of one year from the making thereof; Unless the agreement upon which such action shall be brought or some memorandum or not thereof shall be in writing and signed by the party to be charged therewith[.]”). As such, Thorne’s arguments relating to substantial performance or acquiescence are unavailing.¹⁴

Moreover Dr. Ross’s employment, salary, and benefits, were consistent with the offer letter signed by both parties. There is no later event which would indicate any agreement on the part of Dr. Ross to submit herself to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina. Under the standard recited above, the circuit court was within its discretion in finding that the Employment Agreement was unsigned by Dr. Ross and therefore, inapplicable.

In addition, as a general matter, while Dr. Ross agreed to the terms presented in the offer letter, she did not assent to the terms of the Employment Agreement. *See, e.g., Bugg v. Bugg*, 272 S.C. 122, 125, 249 S.E.2d 505, 507 (1978) (“Where it is determined that the parties intended not to be bound until the written contract is executed, no valid and enforceable obligation will be held to arise.”); *see also Potomac Leasing Co. v. Otts Mkt., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 603, 606, 358 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct. App. 1987) (“It is well settled in South Carolina that in order for there to be a binding contract between parties, there must be a mutual manifestation of assent to the terms.”).

Lastly, even if section 8.1 of the Employment Agreement could be applied to Dr. Ross, the language of that clause would not be dispositive on the issue of personal jurisdiction. *See Springmasters, Inc. v. D & M Mfg.*, 303 S.C. 528, 402 S.E.2d 192 (Ct.App.1991) (“Although not controlling, a choice of law provision is relevant in deciding whether to exercise personal jurisdiction.”); *Coggeshall*, 376 S.C. at 20-21, 655 S.E.2d at 480-81 (quoting same). As will be

¹⁴ Although the statute of frauds was not raised to the circuit court, this Court may affirm for any reason appearing in the record. Rule 220, SCACR.

shown below, the circuit court considered the record before it in light of the applicable standard and found that this action should be dismissed. Therefore, the dismissal should be affirmed.

C. Thorne has not established personal jurisdiction in this matter.

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